IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JERRY WILLIAM CORRELL,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES R. VALERINO, ESQUIRE 229 Pasadena Place Orlando, Florida 32803 (305) 422-1153

68,393

CASE NO.

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

During the evening hours of June 30, 1985, Delores Taylor, who lived next door to 3004 Tampico Drive, Orlando, Florida, heard screams and sounds that sounded like thumps coming from the residence at 3004 Tampico Drive. (TR-607).

Ms. Taylor heard these sounds at approximately 12:00 midnight. (TR-610).

On the morning of July 1, 1985, Mr. Michael Slavik and Mr. Paul Sloan traveled to the residence located at 3004

Tampico Drive. When they arrived at the residence they found the house to be closed up and locked. (TR-489). After receiving no answer at the front door, Mr. Sloan borrowed a kitchen knife from a neighbor and jimmied the front door open. (TR-490). When entering the residence, they noticed a very large pool of blood on the floor. (TR-491). As they searched the house, they found several bodies. (TR-493). Slavik and Sloan also noticed that the air conditioning was on and that it was chilly inside the house. (TR-496). The Orange County Sheriff's Department was then contacted concerning their discovery.

Deputy Thomas J. McCann, who was the on-call investigator, received a communication to respond to 3004 Tampico Drive. (TR-585). He arrived at the scene at approximately 11:20 a.m. (TR-586)

While at the scene, Deputy McCann encountered the Defendant at approximately 1:00 p.m. (TR-596). Detective Diane Payne, of the Orange County Sheriff's Department, also had occasion to go to the scene at 3004 Tampico Drive. (TR-1073).

While at the scene she had the occasion to see the Defendant.

On that same day, July 1, 1985, the Defendant went to the

Sheriff's Department and gave Diane Payne a statement. (TR-1074).

The Defendant gave Diane Payne both an oral statement and then a tape recorded statement. (TR-1075). During the non-taped portion of the interview with the Defendant he indicated that he had been at the ABC Bar at Lancaster and Orange for a period of time and then he had met a girl named June or Junie, stayed with her there at the Bar, and then left and went to Central Park. (TR-1077). From Central Park they traveled to East Lake Toho in Kissimmee where they stayed for a period of time and then he returned home around 5:00 a.m. or 5:30 a.m. that morning. (TR-1077). The Defendant further indicated that he had last seen his ex-wife, Susan Correll, Friday night with a person by the name of Rick at a bar. (TR-1079). Following the Defendant's oral statement to Diane Payne, he gave a tape recorded statement to her. (Exhibit 199). While the Defendant was giving his statement to the Orange County Sheriff's Department, fingerprints were taken of him. (TR-1074). Deputy Elmer Green also took photographs of the Defendant, one photograph of the Defendant himself and five photographs of his hands and forearms. (TR-1104).

On July 1, 1985, Deputy Sherilyn Teri Ayers, who is a crime scene investigator, began to gather and collect items of evidence which might be of some evidentiary value. (TR-626). She also took numerous photographs of the scene which depicted

the bodies of the four victims, items within the residence that appeared to have been moved, as well as all the areas where the Orange County Sheriff Department had discovered what was suspected to be blood. Deputy Ayers also collected numerous items of evidence. All of these items were packaged and then submitted to the Sanford Regional Crime Lab. (TR-688).

Ms. Ayers also searched the purses of Mary Lou Hines, Susan Correll, and Mary Beth Jones. In none of these purses did she find any paper currency. (TR-1309 through 1310).

On July 1, 1985, Deputy William G. Miller responded to the residence at 3004 Tampico Drive where he was assigned to assist in the processing and collection of evidence. (TR-895). Initially, an examination of the four victims was made by way of lasers in an effort to determine if there were any fingerprints on the body as well as hair and fiber evidence. (TR-895). As a result of the laser examination, no fingerprints were found on the bodies of the victims but some hair and fibers were located. (TR-896). Deputy Miller returned to the scene at 3004 Tampico Drive on July 2, 1985. (TR-897). At that time he gathered and collected numerous items of suspected evidence which consisted of numerous items that had what was suspected to be blood on them.

On July 1, 1985, John Frederick Fisher, a forensic analyst, with the Orange County Sheriff's Department, responded to the scene at 3004 Tampico Drive. (TR-928). Deputy Fisher responded to the scene to assist in the collection of physical

evidence and to provide any technical support that he might be able to provide. (TR-928).

Over a period of time and for several days, Mr. Fisher collected numerous items of evidence at the scene of the homicides. (TR-939). The items that Mr. Fisher collected were items that had what appeared to be blood on them. Mr. Fisher processed a pharmacy bag which had been gathered as evidence to determine whether or not it contained latent fingerprints. (TR-1312). Prior to processing the pharmacy bag, Mr. Fisher removed a suspected bloodstain. (TR-1312). Mr. Fisher also processed for latent fingerprints a MasterCard charge receipt that had been removed from the purse of Mary Lou Hines. (TR-1314). Mr. Fisher also removed a suspected bloodstain from the MasterCard charge receipt. (TR-1314). In the processing of the residence at 3004 Tampico Drive, Mr. Fisher also obtained a latent print in the area near the air conditioning thermostat in the living room and dining room area. (TR-1550). This print appeared to be in a substance believed to be possible blood. (TR-1550).

Mr. Fisher developed a print which was located in suspected blood located in the hallway adjacent to Tuesday Correll's room on the west wall which was approximately two and one-half feet from the floor. (TR-1556). Mr. Fisher also developed by way of a photograph a latent print in a substance which appeared to be blood which was located on the top surface of a drawer in Susan Correll's bedroom. It was a dresser drawer

in the upper left hand corner of the top drawer. (TR-1560).

In all Mr. Fisher developed eighty-six (86) possible prints of which only twenty-eight (28) were suitable for comparison. (TR-1570).

All the prints that were discovered at the scene located at 3004 Tampico Drive were submitted to James Murray of the Orange County Sheriff's Department. Based on his examination of the prints Lt. Murray reached the following conclusion:

- 1. A partial palm print found in the hallway of the home located at 3004 Tampico Drive which led back to the bedrooms was identified as being a palm print of the Defendant. (TR-1587 through 1588).
- 2. The palm print that was located in the area close to the air conditioning thermostat of the residence located at 3004 Tampico Drive was determined to be the left palm print of the Defendant. (TR-1590 through 1591).
- 3. The print that was developed on the top ridge of the dresser drawer in Susan Correll's bedroom was identified as being the right thumb of the Defendant. (TR-1593 through 1594).
- 4. The latent fingerprint that was discovered on the MasterCard receipt was identified as being the right thumbprint of the Defendant. (TR-1596).
- 5. The latent palm print that was developed on the pharmacy bag was identified as being the left palm print of the Defendant. (TR-1597).

Mr. Murray further testified that he found numerous latent

prints that he could not identify. (TR-1611).

When the Defendant was arrested on July 2, 1985, Mr.

Jose Lopez, who was employed in the Booking Office of the Orange
County Jail, took some money from the Defendant. (TR-1186).

This money, which consisted of \$47.00, was eventually given to
Deputy Harry Park. (TR-1219). Deputy Park turned the money over
to Deputy Fisher who discovered a suspected bloodstain which he
removed, from a \$20.00 bill. (TR-955).

Deputy Dennis Volkerson of the Orange County Sheriff's Department, indicated that on July 1, 1985, he heard a broadcast to be on the lookout for a 1979 black Ford Hatchback, tag number 082 CLM. (TR-990). On July 1, 1985, at approximately 5:45 p.m., Deputy Volkerson observed a Mustang that fit the description of the broadcast located in the parking lot of the Versailles Shopping Plaza. (TR-991). On July 3, 1985, after the Mustang had been towed to Ace Auto Parts, Deputy Chester Blekfeld processed the vehicle. (TR-1000). During his processing of the vehicle he gathered a spot of suspected blood from the upholstery on the driver's side of the seat. (TR-1002).

Mr. David Baer, a senior crime forensic serologist at the Region IV Crime Laboratory in Sanford, Florida, received all the items of evidence that had been gathered by the Orange County Sheriff's Department from the residence at 3004 Tampico Drive that contained suspected blood on them. Mr. Baer examined these items for a period of three and one-half months. (TR-1325). He also received from the Orange County Sheriff's Department the

known blood samples of the Defendant and the four victims, Mary Beth Jones, Mary Lou Hines, Susan Correll, and Tuesday Correll. Using the known blood samples of the Defendant and the four victims, Mr. Baer was able to determine each of the five individuals blood type. Based on Mr. Baer's analysis and comparisons he determined that numerous blood stains could have possibly been the blood of the Defendant. Other blood stains could have possibly been the blood of Mary Beth Jones, Mary Lou Hines, or the Defendant and the remainder of the blood stains could possibly have been the blood of a particular victim.

Mr. Baer also examined the upholstery from the driver's side of the Mustang and found blood that possibly could have been the blood of Mary Beth Jones, Mary Lou Hines, or the Defendant. (TR-1426). He also examined a pair of blue jeans that had been seized from the Defendant's room during the execution of a search warrant and found blood that could possibly have been the blood of Mary Beth Jones, Mary Lou Hines, or the Defendant. (TR-1427). In conducting an examination of the vaginal swab that had been taken from Susan Correll, Mr. Baer noted the presence of sperm. (TR-1431).

Mr. Baer could not rule out the Defendant as being the person who deposited the sperm. (TR-1434). Mr. Baer also testified in relation to the blood stains that he could not definitely say that any of the stains of blood came from any particular person. (TR-1447).

On cross-examination, Mr. Baer testified that several

blood stains that he examined and determined could possibly have been the blood of the Defendant could also have possibly been the blood of a Richard Henestofel, a Harold Witt, and/or a Richard Schardt. (TR-1461 through TR-1464).

Dr. Thomas Hegert, the District Nine Medical Examiner for Orange County and Osceola County, Florida, testified that he arrived at the scene located at 3004 Tampico Drive on July 1, The bodies of the four victims were removed from the scene so that Doctor Hegert could then perform an autopsy on each body. During the autopsy Doctor Hegert noted that there was no evidence of any injury to any of Susan Correll's female genital area. (TR-756). During the autopsy of Susan Correll, Dr. Hegert noted numerous wounds including several defensive type wounds on her hands. (TR-773). Correll's cause of death was from a massive hemorrhage produced primarly by the wounds of the left clavicle area, the left chest, and the stab wounds of the abdomen. (TR-777). In conducting the autopsy of Tuesday Correll, Dr. Hegert noted numerous cutting type wounds, none of which could be labeled defensive type wounds. (TR-796). Tuesday Correll died as a result of massive hemorrhage as a result of multiple stab wounds of the chest. (TR-798). In conducting the autopsy of Mary Lou Hines, Dr. Hegert again noted numerous cutting type wounds including several defensive type wounds of the left hand. (TR-808). Mary Lou Hines died as a result of massive hemorrhage to the chest cavity, associated with aspiration of blood. (TR-810). Finally, Dr. Hegert

conducted the autopsy of Mary Beth Jones. He noted numerous cutting type wounds including a defensive type wound on her right hand. (TR-822). Mary Beth Jones died as a result of a massive hemorrhage in her left chest and the hemorrhage into the abdominal cavity resulting from the stab wounds of the chest and back. (TR-824). Dr. Hegert conducted the autopsies at approximately 12:30 p.m. on July 1, 1985, and based on the extent of rigor mortis he observed on the bodies determined that the four (4) individuals had died approximately twelve (12) to sixteen (16) hours earlier. (TR-843). He also found no evidence of any sexual assault. (TR-839).

Judith Bunker was called by the State and the Court found her to be an expert in the area of bloodstain pattern analysis and crime scene reconstruction. Based on her investigation in this cause it was the opinion of Ms. Bunker that Tuesday Correll was in the opening to the hallway close to the west wall where she received two injuries. Then within one foot of the east wall she received further injuries and then fell to the floor where she received additional injuries. Tuesday Correll then laid face down on the carpet for a period of time and then was moved to the middle east bedroom and was placed on a bed. (TR-1534). It was Ms. Bunker's opinion that Susan Correll was first injured near the east wall almost at floor level where it appears that she was in more or less a fleeing position. Her assailant bent over her using a right overhand fashion to inflict injuries. Susan Correll then fell backward or was placed backward coming to rest

against the west wall with only the upper portion of her body in contact with the wall. At this time she received additional injuries whereupon she was eventually dragged into the bedroom where she was found. (TR-1535 through 1537). It was the opinion of Ms. Bunker that Mary Lou Hines was first injured at the door of the middle east bedroom and at some point in time fell into a lower position, most probably on her knees. She eventually was on a bed where she received additional injuries. (TR-1537 through 1539). Finally, it was Ms. Bunker's opinion that Mary Beth Jones first received her injuries in the area of the stove located in the kitchen. She then fell to her knees and eventually was lying on her back whereupon she was dragged into the family room. (TR-1539 through 1542).

Mr. Randy Linneman testified that he was the owner of Pine Castle Auto Body where the Defendant began working for him the Thursday prior to the murders. (TR-1108). Mr. Linneman testified that although the Defendant could have cut himself on Monday, July 1, 1985, the Defendant never complained to him that he had been cut on the job. (TR-1110).

A Mr. Lawrence Smith testified that he had met the Defendant in the Orange County Jail and while in jail together the Defendant had discussed his case with him. (TR-1258). Mr. Smith testified that the Defendant had told him that he and Susan Correll did not get along with each other. (TR-1259). Mr. Smith further indicated that the Defendant told him that he did not like his ex-wife dating other men, and that sometime

after they were divorced the Defendant had talked to a friend in a motorcyle club to make arrangements for the man to kill Susan Correll. (TR-1260). The Defendant further indicated to Mr. Smith that a woman by the name of June was going to be his alibi but that she had not been located. (TR-1261). The Defendant also told Mr. Smith that he had been at the residence at 3004 Tampico Drive on the night of the homicides, that he had taken several things out of the house, took a car from the house, and left it with the keys in it at a convenience store. (TR-1263). The Defendant further told Mr. Smith that he had taken a pack of Vantage cigarettes from the house. (TR-1263). The Defendant also told Mr. Smith that he had just taken things out of the house on the night of the murders but he never specifically talked about how the murders took place. (TR-1289). In fact, the Defendant always told Mr. Smith that he was innocent of the murders. (TR-1296).

Mr. Richard Schardt testified that he knew a woman by the name of Mary Beth Jones who resided at 3004 Tampico Drive. (TR-563). He was with Mary Beth Jones during part of the day of June 30, 1985. Mr. Schardt further testified that he and Mary Beth Jones visited some friends and that at approximately midnight Mary Beth Jones departed to return home. (TR-572). Finally, Mr. Schardt testified that Mary Beth Jones drove a 1979 Mustang. (TR-572).

Mr. Harold Witt testified that he also knew Mary Beth Jones. (TR-1008). He further stated that the 1979 Mustang

that was being driven by Mary Beth Jones was registered to him. (TR-1010).

Mr. Richard Henestofel testified that he had met Susan Correll through the Defendant. (TR-1020). On the evening of June 30, 1985, Mr. Henestofel went to the ABC Bar at Lancaster and Orange in Orlando where he saw the Defendant at approximately 6:00 p.m. (TR-1021). Mr. Henestofel testified that the Defendant left the ABC Bar prior to him leaving. Mr. Henestofel further testified that when he left the ABC Bar at approximately midnight, he went to his automobile where he discovered that each of his four tires were flat. (TR-1025). When he returned the next morning to his automobile, he noticed that each tire had two cuts in it. (TR-1026). He also discovered a set of keys on his trunk lid which had a unicorn on the keyring as well as a Marlboro emblem. (TR-1028). These keys were later determined to be the keys of Mary Beth Jones.

Patricia Babcock testified that she worked at the ABC Bar at Lancaster and Orange in Orlando, Florida, as a barmaid. (TR-1118). She further testified that she saw the Defendant in the bar at approximately 9:00 to 9:30 p.m. on the evening of June 30, 1985. (TR-1118). During the time that the Defendant was in the ABC Bar, she never saw him with anyone. (TR-1120). When the bar was getting ready to close at approximately 11:30 p.m., she noticed that the Defendant was no longer there. (TR-1120).

Mr. Guy Kettlehone testified that he saw the De-

fendant on the evening of June 30, 1985, at approximately 11:40 p.m. at his residence located at 820 Locust Street, Orlando, Florida. (TR-1166). The Defendant remained there until he left at approximately 12:20 a.m. (TR-1170).

Officer Elizabeth Peterka, of the Kissimmee Police
Department, testified that she was on duty from the hours of
7:30 p.m. on June 30, 1985 to 7:30 a.m. on July 1, 1985. (TR1126). She also testified that while on patrol during
June 30, 1985, and July 1, 1985, she drove through the East
Lake Toho area approximately three to four times after 10:00
p.m. (TR-1127). During the three to four times that she
drove through the East Lake Toho area, she did not see a
blue Charger. (TR-1127).

Joyce Stone testified that she is a Security Officer for ABC Liquors and that on the evening of June 29, 1985, while working at the ABC Bar at Orange and Michigan she saw Susan Correll and Mary Beth Jones. (TR-1061). On that same evening she also saw the Defendant at the rear entrance of the ABC Bar. (TR-1062). At that time the Defendant wanted to talk with Susan Correll. (TR-1063). Susan Correll, according to Ms. Stone, told the Defendant that she did not want to see him again whereupon the Defendant grabbed her by the arm. (TR-1064).

Mr. James Rucker testified that on May 15, 1982, Susan Correll was visiting him at his father's home. (TR-1138). At approximately 6:30 a.m. to 7:00 a.m., Mr. Rucker heard the Defendant outside the residence screaming for Susan Correll.

(TR-1139). When Mr. Rucker looked out the window he saw the Defendant standing by Susan Correll's white Chevette. At that time he observed the Defendant with a knife in his hand, heard air hissing out of the tires of the Chevette, saw the Defendant walk away, get into a car, and leave. (TR-1140). Mr. Rucker then went outside and saw that each of the four tires to the Chevette had slash marks in them. (TR-1141). At no time did Mr. Rucker see the Defendant slash the tires to the white Chevette. (TR-1142).

Mr. David Murray testified that in approximately 1982 to 1983, Susan Correll was residing with him and his wife. (TR-1242). On one occasion the Defendant came to the residence and knocked on the door wanting to see Susan Correll. (TR-1244). At that time Susan Correll did not want to go to the door, as according to Mr. Murray, she was afraid of the Defendant. (TR-1244). Mr. Murray further testified that Susan Correll finally went outside and talked with the Defendant whereupon the Defendant indicated that he wanted to have her back. (TR-1245). At that time Susan Correll began to cry, the Defendant got angry, and told her that he would kill her if she dated other men. (TR-1245).

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