IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERRY CORRELL,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 68,393

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CLERIA 2037

CLERIA COURT

Deputy Cick

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

has obviously been impaired; the state is able to put on a witness whose testimony is unknown to the defendant and the defendant is without the traditional recourse of knowledgable cross-examination or impeachment. This situation is obviously one fraught with potential prejudice for the defense. Yet, when the defense itself has been the "culprit" and has impaired the prosecution's ability to prepare its case, the prejudice suffered the defense by exclusion of its own undisclosed witness may, in fact, be non-existent. Thus, the state respectfully suggests that situations involving the exclusion of a defense witness, whether on grounds of relevancy or Richardson, should be handled In order to preserve the point for appeal, an adequate proffer is required, see, Jacobs, supra; Nava, supra, and, in order to constitute reversible error, some prejudice to the defense must be shown; in other words, the defense must show that the witness' testimony would have been admissible, relevant, and non-cumulative, as well as of some benefit to the defense.

That showing has not been made here, and it is clear from the limited summary of the potential testimony of Barbara Pizzaroz that cumulative and her testimony was largely As noted earlier, another witness testified as to irrelevant. the actual distances involved in the case. Additionally, as both the judge and prosecutor pointed out, no dispute existed as to the fact that Jim Nagle and Guy Kettlehone had spoken with the investigator or what they had talked about at the time (R 1401-4; 1173-4; 1183-4); indeed, appellee's subsequent failure to formally seek to call the investigator as a witness may simply

have been in recognition of the fact that she had no testimony of any value to offer. Inasmuch as it would seem that all of Barbara Pizzaroz's prospective testimony was offered and admitted through other witnesses, appellee cannot see how her exclusion could constitute reversible error. In Palmes v. State, supra, this court noted that while the trial court's exclusion of certain evidence which the defense had wished to present had been erroneous, the error was harmless where substantially the same matters were presented to the jury through the testimony of another witness. Palmes has obvious implications sub judice, and no reversible error has been demonstrated.

Finally, appellee respectfully suggests that this case, although, as contended earlier, presenting no true Richardson issue, does present a good example of why Richardson should not apply to defense discovery violations, as well as why the per se rule of reversible error is unwarranted in such circumstance. Appellee respectfully states its agreement with the cogent and compelling dissenting opinion of Chief Justice McDonald in Smith, and suggests that his observations regarding supra, unwarranted triumph of form over substance are very much to the If the discovery rules are not designed to afford a defendant a procedural device to escape justice, see Leeman v. State, 357 So.2d 703 (Fla. 1978), it could hardly be said to further justice to allow a defendant, who himself has violated the discovery rules, to, in essence, plant the seed of reversible error, and "sand bag" the court into not conducting what might be regarded as an adequate Richardson hearing. This is especially

true, when it is clear from the record that the defense would suffer no prejudice by exclusion of the undisclosed witness. Any claim of error in regard to an allegedly insufficient Richardson hearing following a defense discovery violation should be suceptible to analysis under section 933.24, Florida Statutes (1983), and State v. DiGuilio, as is any other claim of perceived error in a criminal trial; as the dissent in Smith points out, there is no compelling reason for a mere error of procedure to be an exception to the above-statement of legislative intent.

To the extent that this court wishes to continue to adhere to Smith, the state would draw its attention to its earlier decision of Wright v. State, 473 So.2d 1277 (Fla. 1985). decision, this court found that the exclusion of a defense witness due to a violation of the rule of sequestration had been erroneous, but held that such error had been harmless, in that the excluded witness' testimony would not have affected the It is unclear to the state why a defendant whose witness is excluded in the name of Richardson, as opposed to a violation of sequestration rule, should be allowed to count on automatic relief on appeal, whereas another defendant, whose defense has been just as "deprived", must demonstrate prejudice before any relief could be awarded. To the extent that this court regards the instant point as raising a Richardson issue, and to the extent that this court concludes that any error was committed below, appellee respectfully urges this court to recede from **Smith** and **Bradford**, and to apply a harmless error analysis to the claim at issue, inasmuch as it is clear from the record that the exclusion of Barbara Pizzaroz's cumulative and irrelevant testimony had no effect upon the verdict <u>sub judice</u>.

In conclusion, appellant has failed to preserve the instant claim of error for appellate review, due to his failure to formally call or seek to call Barbara Pizzaroz as a witness during his own case, thus allowing the trial court below to issue a definitive ruling and/or conclude that further inquiry was not necessary; likewise, this point has not been preserved due to defense counsel's failure to formally proffer the testimony of To the extent that this court regards the Barbara Pizzaroz. instant issue as preserved, appellee would contend that the trial court below correctly resolved the matter of the defense discovery violation. Appellee would further contend that any claim of error in this case should be resolved in accordance with section 933.24 and State v. DiGuilio, inasmuch as it is clear from the record that any error committed in reference to the exclusion of Barbara Pizzaroz was harmless beyond all reasonable The instant convictions should be affirmed.

POINT XIII

APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THE EXISTENCE OF "CUMULATIVE" ERROR, SO AS TO JUSTIFY A NEW TRIAL.

In this potpourri of purported errors, appellant has raised seven (7) discrete claims of error, which he apparently believes benefit from proximity to each other. Appellee respectfully states its disagreement with this approach to appellate advocacy, and suggests that if each asserted claim of error was with briefing, it was worth raising as a separate point on appeal. will be noted, a number of arguments raised herein were not properly raised for review. and the state suggests preservation cannot be conferred through osmosis. Although each point will be considered separately, whether viewed in isolation or in conjunction, reversible error has not been demonstrated.

A. <u>DENIAL</u> OF <u>APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL</u>, IN <u>REFERENCE</u> TO TESTIMONY ALLEGEDLY REGARDING HIS STATUS AS AN INDIGENT, WAS NOT ERROR.

During the testimony of Delores Taylor, the prosecutor asked her whether or not "someone from the Public Defender's Office" had ever shown her a schedule of movies for the night of June 30, 1985. When the witness replied in the affirmative, appellant objected, claiming that the state was seeking to impeach its own witness (R 611-612); the objection was, apparently, overruled (R 612). Following this ruling, and subsequent testimony, appellant cross-examined the witness, and proceedings concluded for the day (R 613-615). The next morning, appellant's counsel moved for a mistrial, contending that his client had been prejudiced by the state's reference to the public defender's office, and the jury

could assume that his indigency could have served as a motive for robbery (R 620). Judge Stroker denied the motion, finding no indication of sufficient prejudice (R 621). Subsequently, during the testimony of state witness Baer, the forensic serologist, the witness stated that he had received a sample of appellant's blood which had been submitted to him "by the Public Defender's Office." (R 1341). No objection was interposed at the time, and, several pages later in the transcript, defense counsel renewed his motion for a mistrial, due to the reference to the public defender's office, which was denied (R 1341, 1344).

Initially, it must be noted that neither motion for mistrial was interposed contemporaneously with the allegedly objectionable question or answer, and that further, neither was preceded by a formal objection or motion to strike. Accordingly, the state questions the preservation of this point. See, Jackson v. State, supra; Ferguson v. State, supra; State v. Cumbie, 380 So.2d 1031 Additionally, it is well established that a (Fla. 1980). mistrial is only appropriate when the error committed is so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial, see, Cobb v. State, 376 So.2d 230 (Fla. 1979), and that a trial court enjoys wide discretion when passing upon a motion for mistrial. Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1978). preservation of this point, appellant has failed to demonstrate an abuse of discretion in the court's ruling below. To accept appellant's contention that indigency can be equated with "bad character", would not only be illogical, but also insulting to a percentage of the population of Florida. It is unlikely that

this "news" of appellant's indigency caused any surprise to the jury or that it played even a minute part in their deliberations. Extended discussion of this issue would not be necessary, and the instant convictions should be affirmed.

B. ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF TESTIMONY REGARDING DETECTIVE MCCANN'S ATTEMPTS TO VERIFY APPELLANT'S STORY WAS NOT REVERSIBLE ERROR.

The state called Deputy Tom McCann as a witness, and during direct examination asked him whether or not he had done anything in an attempt to verify appellant's statements concerning his whereabouts on the night that the homicides had occurred (R 1197); appellant's tape recorded statement of July 1, 1985, in which he had recounted for the police his activities on the date in question, had already been played for the jury (R 1088). After the witness had answered in the affirmative, and had then proceeded to state that he had gone to the ABC bar to look for the bartender on duty at the time that appellant had claimed to be there, defense counsel objected (R 1197). The basis for this objection was that the state was seeking to impermissably bolster the testimony of the bartender, Patty Babcock, who had already testified (R 1197-8; 1117-1123). The prosecutor stated in response that the testimony was being offered to show that the police had attempted to checkout appellant's story, such issue in that, on cross-examination of other witnesses, appellant had sought to show that the police had only been interested in arresting appellant (R 1198). Judge Stroker overruled the objection, and the witness then briefly testified that when he had attempted to verify appellant's statements

concerning his whereabouts, he had not been able to do so (R 1199).

On appeal, appellant contends that this testimony was error, apparently on the basis of this court's decision of Huff v. In such case, this court found that under the State, supra. particular circumstances, it had not been reversible error for a police officer to testify on redirect that his investigations had failed to reveal anything to change his mind that the defendant was guilty, and that he adhered to such belief at the time he Appellee is respectfully unable to fathom the testified. applicability or lack thereof, of Huff, sub judice. basis for objection below was that the testimony was improper bolstering; it was not, in that the officer was simply recounting his own activities, and not seeking to repeat prior statements of any other witness. To the extent that appellant is arguing anything else, which would be impermissible under Steinhorst v. State, supra, it is clear, as the state argued below, that defense counsel had sought to imply in its examination of other witnesses that appellant had been unfairly singled out for prosecution (R 1096, 1106). Inasmuch as a good part of the state's case involved blowing holes in the statement given by appellant, for the completely proper purpose of showing to the jury that appellant had offered a less than truthful account of his whereabouts, the state finds nothing objectionable in the instant testimony. Reversible error has not been demonstrated, and the instant convictions should be affirmed.

C. THE CALLING OF JAMES NAGLE AND GUY KETTLEHONE AS COURT WITNESSES, ASSUMING THAT SUCH POINT IS PRESERVED, DOES NOT

CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR.

During a break in proceedings in the state's case, the prosecutor stated that two state witnesses were prepared to give testimony that the state would prefer not to have to vouch for (R 873). The two, James Nagle and Guy Kettlehone, were friends of appellant and were prepared to testify that they had seen him at 11:40 p.m. on the night of the homicide; the prosecutor noted that the two had been to see appellant frequently in jail and that another witness would state that appellant had, while in jail, boasted that he was seeking to create an alibi (R 873-4). Accordingly, because the witnesses did have some evidence of benefit to the state, the state asked that they be called as court witnesses (R 874). A general discussion occurred as to the proper procedure to be utilized, during which defense counsel observed

If the State feels that they are going to be adverse witnesses and the Court rules that's true, then I think the State does have a right to have them called as Court witnesses, I guess. (R 875)

At the conclusion of the hearing, the judge ruled that the witnesses would be called as court witnesses, thus allowing all parties to cross-examine them (R 876). The record reveals that no objection was interposed at this time, and that the two witnesses similarly testified as court witnesses without objection from the defense (R 876, 1165-1176, 1177-1184).

This court held in <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, that, except in cases of fundamental error, an appellate court will not consider an issue unless it has been presented to the lower

courts. Here, it is clear that appellant interposed no objection to Nagle and Kettlehone being called as court witnesses, despite numerous opportunities to do so; indeed, it would seem, as in Lucas v. State, supra, that appellant acquiesced in the court's statement of the law and ruling below. Accordingly, this point is not preserved for appellate review. Even if it were, reversible error has not been demonstrated. As this court held in Brumbley v. State, 453 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1984), it is within the discretion of a trial court to call a witness as a court witness, pursuant to section 90.615, Florida Statutes (1983), if the moving party does not wish to vouch for the credibility of such witness. See also, Williams v. State, 353 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). Although this court has recently held in Jackson v. State, 498 So.2d 906 (Fla. 1986), that court witnesses should be limited to those eyewitnesses to the crime whose veracity or integrity is reasonably doubted, appellee respectfully notes that the court below did not have the benefit of such decision at the time of appellant's trial.

Appellee would contend that the greater "evil" in <u>Jackson</u>, as well as in the <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 451 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1984), relied upon by appellant, was that the court witness in each case had been improperly impeached, pursuant to section 90.608(2), Florida Statutes (1983), with prior inconsistent statements which could not have been admitted but for the witness' "adversity". Thus, a basis for reversal in each <u>Jackson</u> case was the admission of this improper evidence; this court noted in <u>McCloud v. State</u>, 335 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1976), that there is a distinction between a

party impeaching its own witness, and a party merely being allowed to ask leading questions. In this case, the prosecution attempted no impeachment of either Nagle or Kettlehone, and impeach neither witness on the basis of inconsistent statements. Rather, the state was simply allowed to examine the witnesses by asking leading questions. Even if, under this court's recent Jackson decision, the witnesses should not have been called as court witnesses, in that they were not eyewitnesses, appellee is unable to see irretrievable prejudice to the defense stemming from the manner in which the witnesses were examined. Assuming this point is preserved, and utilizing the harmless error test of State v. DiGuilio, supra, reversible error has not been demonstrated, in that it can be said beyond a reasonable doubt that the witnesses' testimony had no effect upon The instant convictions should be affirmed. the verdict.

D. DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL, INTERPOSED DURING THE TESTIMONY OF WITNESS SMITH, WAS NOT ERROR.

During the testimony of state witness Lawrence Smith, the following occurred:

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